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FOREWORD BY THE MINISTER OF HEALTH MALAYSIA
Traditional & complementary medicine (T&CM), which was once relegated
to mythology and folklore is now increasingly accepted globally as a form of
health care alongside mainstream health services. T&CM is found in almost
every country in the world and the demand for its services is on an upward
trend. Numerous countries have seen the necessity for an integrative health
care system that enables safe and cost-eﬀective access to T&CM by health
care policy makers, practitioners and most importantly, by the consumers.
The World Health Organization (WHO) has played an important role in
spearheading T&CM in this region through various publications such as The
Traditional Medicine Strategy 2014-2023 and Guidelines For The Appropriate
Use of Herbal Medicines. These publications serve to guide and support
member states, including Malaysia, in the formulation of T&CM - related
policies, implementation of programmes and regulations at the governmental
level. At the same time, the promotion of safe and eﬀective use of T&CM
should be brought down to the grassroots level reaching the consumers.
Aligned with the strategy of WHO, The Ministry of Health Malaysia has
developed Consumer Guideline For Proper Use of T&CM Services in
Malaysia as one of the activities under The Traditional & Complementary
Medicine Blueprint 2018-2027 (Healthcare). The Consumer Guideline is an
initiative of the Ministry of Health in ensuring the needs of the public, as
consumers, are always placed in the foreground. The guideline is designed
with the focus on the consumer as a simple, straightforward and
trustworthy point of reference. Without a doubt, the guideline may even
encourage more consumers to be more discerning and to seek for T&CM
services with greater conﬁdence and peace of mind.
With this I would like to thank all the stakeholders who were involved in the
development of this guideline. Also, special thanks to the World Health
Organization for the technical support in fulﬁlling the goals and objectives of
the T&CM Division, Ministry of Health Malaysia.

Datuk Seri Dr. Dzulkeﬂy Ahmad
Minister of Health Malaysia
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FOREWORD BY
THE DIRECTOR-GENERAL OF HEALTH MALAYSIA
The development of Traditional & Complementary Medicine Blueprint
2018-2027 (Healthcare) is a signiﬁcant milestone in the historical development
of T&CM in Malaysia. This national masterplan was produced after a series
of engagements between the Ministry of Health with key stakeholders
from diﬀerent ministries and non-governmental agencies. Through the
engagement, 17 challenges of the T&CM industry were identiﬁed.
One of the 17 identiﬁed challenges is low levels of knowledge and
awareness of T&CM among the general public. The strategy outlined in
relevance to this particular challenge is to increase and strengthen public
knowledge and awareness of T&CM. In this current era of the internet and
social media, more often than not, there is an overload of information. The
content of the information could be false, misleading or untrustworthy. The
public requires accurate and adequate information on T&CM practice and
products from trusted sources to make well-informed decisions.
Moving in line with our National T&CM Blueprint 2018-2027 (Healthcare), a
Consumer Guideline For Proper Use of T&CM Services in Malaysia was
formulated by the Ministry of Health. The ﬁrst objective of the consumer
guideline is that it aims to empower the individual in making informed
choices by providing the appropriate information. Secondly, the guideline
intends to minimise the impact of risk on usage of T&CM services through
information sharing and communication. Ultimately, the purpose of the
guideline is to promote awareness of consumer rights for proper and safe use
of T&CM services. I strongly believe that well-informed consumers would
prioritise safety and quality when selecting T&CM services for their needs.
I would like to express my sincere appreciation to all stakeholders who have
contributed their valuable input which led to the successful preparation of
this guideline. I am grateful for the excellent support given by the World
Health Organization and also to the T&CM Division, Ministry of Health for
their persevering eﬀorts to bring this guideline to fruition.

Datuk Dr. Noor Hisham Abdullah
Director-General of Health Malaysia
5

CONSUMER GUIDELINE FOR PROPER
USE OF TRADITIONAL & COMPLEMENTARY MEDICINE
SERVICES IN MALAYSIA
Objectives
1. To empower the individual to make informed choices by providing the
appropriate information
2. To minimise the impact of risk on usage of Traditional and Complementary
Medicine (T&CM) services through information sharing and
communication
3. To promote awareness of consumer rights for proper and safe use of
T&CM services
1.0 Introduction
Malaysia is a multiracial country with a variety of ethnicities which accounts
for its unique identity. Reﬂecting this, the use of T&CM plays an important
role in a society with a rich cultural background. The National Health &
Morbidity Survey 2015 ascertained that approximately 29.25% of the
population had ever used any T&CM practices with consultation. Many
patients may opt for T&CM treatment for various reasons including cultural
belief, preference of ‘natural therapies’ and their perception of lesser
harmful or uncomfortable side eﬀects from T&CM treatment and others.
In Malaysia, the practice of T&CM can be deﬁned as a form of health-related
practice designed to prevent, treat or manage any ailment or illness or
preserve the mental and physical well-being of an individual. The T&CM Act
2016 (Act 775) provides for the establishment of the T&CM Council to regulate
the T&CM services and matters related to it. It is an eﬀort to curb abuse by
unscrupulous practitioners, to ensure the safety and quality of the services
being provided. Although T&CM practices have begun to be incorporated
into the national health care system in selected public hospitals and clinics in
Malaysia, the bulk of T&CM practice lies in the private sector.
The Oxford Dictionary deﬁnes a consumer as a person who purchases
and/or uses goods or services for themselves or for others. In this context,
any person who purchases, eats or drinks or uses T&CM products or services
is considered a consumer of T&CM.
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This guideline serves to increase public awareness and ensure the safety and
quality of T&CM services. This guideline will assist consumers in providing
them with relevant information, important considerations, and make them
aware of their rights and responsibilities related to the use of T&CM
services.
2.0 Consumer Rights & Responsibilities
The checklist below covers the key issues consumers should consider related
to the selection and use of T&CM services. It provides important questions
consumers should ask and should check when using a T&CM service or
product. This will help safeguard consumer rights and safety.
BEFORE THE SERVICE
Did you seek information from reliable sources on T&CM for your health
condition?
Did you consult your doctor prior to using the T&CM service?
Is the practitioner oﬀering the service registered with the T&CM Council?
Is the practising certiﬁcate, certiﬁcates of qualiﬁcations and training displayed?
How is the service conducted?
Is the service safe to be used in your current health condition? If you are
pregnant, are a lactating mother or child – consult your doctor ﬁrst.
Can you use the service if you are taking certain medication or other herbs?
Does the T&CM service have any side eﬀects?
Does the T&CM service have any adverse reactions to your current medication
or herb use?
What is the known risk of the T&CM service you intend to use?
Who does the service on the day of appointment?
What to do to prepare oneself?
What is the duration of the one service treatment?
How many service/treatments would you require to resolve your problem?
What is the price of the service?
Is there any additional fee?
Is this a ﬁrst time fee/price?
What is the fee/price for subsequent visits/service?
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BEFORE THE SERVICE
Is the premise of the practitioner clean and comfortable?
Is the location of the premise in a clean and comfortable surrounding?
Are the needed facilities available at the premise?
Is the service covered by your personal/medical insurance?
DURING THE SERVICE
Did you give your consent for any service option?
Is the service provided as it was explained to you?
Is the practitioner professional and courteous?
Are products that are used safe for you? For instance any herbs given or oils
used.
What are the ingredients of the medication or herbs provided to you?
If you feel uncomfortable, or the service conducted is not as promised or implied,
terminate the service and you may request for a full or partial refund
AFTER THE SERVICE
What are the do’s and don’ts after the service?
Is a follow-up visit to the provider required?
Let the practitioner know if there are any problems, discomfort, adverse
reactions (minor) or no/slow improvement in the condition for which you were
provided a service/treated
For any after eﬀects that you feel is critical, please go immediately to the nearest
hospital for emergency services.
If you are unsatisﬁed with the treatment/service provided in any way, you may
report to the government authorities via various channels.
Please read the following section for more information on T&CM.

It is also important that any information that consumers provide to the
T&CM practitioner is kept conﬁdential and not disclosed to any party
without prior consent. In the event this happens, the consumer may take the
appropriate action towards the T&CM practitioner.
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3.0 Important Information for the Consumer
3.1 Recognized T&CM practice areas
A practitioner who practises T&CM in Malaysia must ensure that the
practice areas are recognized under T&CM Order 2017 (Recognized
Practice Area). Currently, there are 7 recognized practice areas under
the T&CM Order 2017 shown in Table 2 below:
Table 2: List of Recognized Practice Areas
1. Traditional Malay Medicine
2. Traditional Chinese Medicine
3. Traditional Indian Medicine
4. Homeopathy
5. Chiropractic
6. Osteopathy
7. Islamic Medical Practice
Disclaimer: This information is updated until June 2019. The list of
recognized practice areas will be updated from time to time.
Please obtain the updated list at the T&CM Division webpage
(tcm.moh.gov.my) when necessary.
3.2 Identifying Qualiﬁed Practitioners
Consumers should identify a qualiﬁed T&CM practitioner before
receiving treatment. This is to avoid receiving treatment from an
unqualiﬁed T&CM practitioner as well as to avoid issues of misconduct
and malpractice. Unqualiﬁed T&CM practitioners may provide substandard services and may not follow a professional code of ethics.
According to T&CM Act 2016, any practitioner who wishes to practise
and provide T&CM services should register with T&CM Council. In order
to be eligible for registration, the practitioners should meet the required
criteria, which include having qualiﬁcations as speciﬁed by the T&CM
Council. Those who meet all the requirements would be issued a
registration certiﬁcate. This information will be available at the T&CM
Division once the process of registration of T&CM practitioners
commences. Consumers are advised to enquire about the practising
certiﬁcate prior to treatment.
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3.3 T&CM services in Government Health Care Facilities
In Malaysia, T&CM services oﬀered in the public sector are limited
for particular health conditions in selected hospitals and at primary
healthcare level. Patients who would like to get T&CM services in
government healthcare facilities need to be referred by a registered
medical doctor, either from the government or private sector.
As of June 2019, T&CM services are available in 15 hospitals and at the
primary healthcare level; (refer Appendix 1 for the list of government
hospitals oﬀering T&CM services). T&CM services oﬀered in these
hospitals are listed in Table 3 below:
Table 3: T&CM Services Oﬀered
T&CM Services

Health Conditions

Traditional Massage

Chronic pain
Post stroke

Acupuncture

Chronic pain
Post stroke
Chemotherapy-induced nausea and vomiting

Herbal Therapy
Shirodhara

External Basti Therapy

As an adjunct treatment for Cancer
Insomnia
Stress or mental fatigue
Anxiety
Mild depression
Headaches
Kati Basti (Lumbar Region)
Lumbago (Low Back Ache)
Lumbar Spondylosis
Inter-vertebral disc prolapse
Sciatica
Greeva Basti (Cervical Region)
Neck stiﬀness and pain
Cervical spondylosis

10

Table 3: T&CM Services Oﬀered
T&CM Services

Health Conditions
Janu Basti (Knee Joint)
Stiﬀness and pain in knee joint
Osteoarthritis of knee joint

Varmam Therapy

Cervical Spondylosis
Lumbar Spondylosis
Osteoarthritis of knee
Adhesive Capsulitis (Frozen Shoulder)

3.3 T&CM Services in the Private Sector
Most of the T&CM services oﬀered in Malaysia are from the private
sector. The service providers include private hospitals with established
T&CM sections, practitioner premises, or home - based practitioners.
Registered T&CM practitioners should display their practising certiﬁcate
in the place where they practise. In addition, all T&CM premises should
comply with the rules and criteria set by the relevant local authorities,
such as a business license.
In some cases, certain practices will be delivered at the client’s home for
example traditional Malay medicine practices, in particular Malay
massage and Malay Traditional Postnatal Care. Consumers are advised
to be vigilant when seeking services which involve home visits.
4.0 T&CM Product Regulations
All pharmaceutical and T&CM products sold in Malaysia including health
supplements are regulated by the Ministry of Health (MOH) under the
Control of Drugs and Cosmetics Regulations 1984. This is to ensure they are
of high quality and safe for consumption by the public. However, raw herbs
are exempted from this regulation.
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Products registered with the MOH have two main features, the registration
number and genuine hologram sticker. The registration number starts with
'MAL', followed by eight numbers, and ending with an alphabet to indicate
their registration category. For example, MAL20125467T. The categories of
registered product are as follows:
A – Controlled medicines
X – Over the counter medicines (OTC)
T – Traditional medicines
N – Supplements
The list of registered products can be found at the oﬃcial website of the
National Pharmaceutical Regulatory Agency, http://www.npra.gov.my/.
The authenticity of the hologram sticker can be determined using the
Meditag hologram decoder which is available at any licensed pharmacies.
Traditional products that need to be registered are from the following
categories:
Homeopathic medicines
Ayurvedic medicines
Medicated plaster
Herbal teas
Dietary supplements e.g. Spirulina, Chlorella, Royal Jelly, Bee Pollen,
Aloe Vera juice, Noni juice, and extract of chicken with herbs
Consumers can lodge a complaint if they encounter any unregistered
product (refer to Table 5 for complaint channels). Unregistered T&CM
products should be avoided, as the safety of the product is not guaranteed.

12

5.0 Assessing Information on T&CM Products and Services
5.1 Evaluating Testimonials, Advertisements & Websites
Consumers should view all non-oﬃcial information regarding T&CM
services including testimonials, advertisements and testimonials with
caution. Some advertisements may make false claims and overwhelming
promises about what can be achieved by seeking such a treatment.
Consumers should verify the information or seek clariﬁcation and
advice about the claims made in advertisements. Testimonials and
recommendations should also be veriﬁed to ensure its reliability.
Various websites and social media provide information to consumers
related to T&CM or health care related information. Consumers should
evaluate whether the information from websites or social media is
reliable. Consumers can verify the reliability of the website by checking
against the criteria below;
The criteria of a reliable website are as follows:
The agency or person in charge of the website is clearly indicated
The website is regularly reviewed and updated
The source of information is clearly stated
The advertiser should be contactable should any problem arise
Refer to Appendix 2 for examples of advertisements with false claims.
5.2 Oﬃcial Sources of Information
Reliable information about T&CM is available from the websites listed in
Table 4 below. Consumers are advised to visit these websites from time
to time to keep themselves updated with the latest information.
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Table 4: Websites for Reference
Information
related to
T&CM
Medical Doctors
Practice of
Dentistry

Agencies

Traditional and
tcm.moh.gov.my
Complementary
Medicine Council
Malaysian Medical
www.mmc.gov.my
Council
Malaysian Dental Council www.mdc.moh.gov.my

Healthcare related National Pharmaceutical
products
Regulatory Agency
Medical Devices
Consumer rights

Website

www.npra.gov.my

Medical Device Authority www.mdb.gov.my
Ministry of Domestic
www.kpdnhep.gov.my
Trade and Consumer
Aﬀairs

6.0 Using T&CM Products or Services
6.1 Self - Medication with T&CM Products
Consumers tend to use T&CM as self - medication. This means buying
and using T&CM products without consultation. It is important that the
consumer obtains suﬃcient information or knowledge of the relevant
T&CM products prior to self-medication. The consumer should be aware
of their individual health conditions and risks of taking any T&CM
product.
Consultation with a registered T&CM practitioner is encouraged to
discuss the suitability of T&CM products and its potential side eﬀects.
During the course of self - medication, if the condition does not improve,
or becomes worse, the consumer should not continue taking the
product and consult a doctor or registered T&CM practitioner if
necessary.
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6.2 Herb - drug Interactions
Interaction between herbs and drugs may occur when they are
consumed together. For example, taking any statin (cholesterol lowering
medicine) with red yeast rice might increase the risk of adverse side
eﬀects. If a consumer is taking herbs for a long period of time, it can
increase the possibility of herb - drug interaction. When two or more
medicines or herbal products are taken simultaneously, the eﬀects of
the drug may increase, decrease or produce a new unwanted eﬀect.
Consumers should take the following safety measures especially if they
are taking any long term medication and herbs to minimise herb - drug
interaction:
Always read the label or leaﬂet provided with the herbal products.
Always follow instructions on how to take the medicine safely as
explained by the healthcare professional.
Check whether the medicine and herbal products can be taken
concurrently.
Inform your healthcare professional if you take any other preparation
including herbs or homeopathic remedies to prevent the occurrence
of undesirable eﬀects from the interactions.
Inform your healthcare professional immediately if there are any side
eﬀects when you consume the medicine and herbal products in the
same period.
6.3 Reporting Adverse Reactions
When any adverse or unwanted reactions occurs from the usage
of T&CM products, consumers should stop taking the product
immediately and report the adverse reaction to the National
Pharmaceutical Regulatory Agency (NPRA), MOH through their website
(http://www.npra.gov.my). All information such as the name of the
product, or brand, its ingredients and source (if known) should be
provided when reporting. Consumers may also include the label/
packaging material of the product.
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If it is suspected that the product is adulterated with some other
medicines such as steroids, painkillers, etc., a sample of the product
should be provided to NPRA for analysis.
If consumers face any adverse reactions after receiving a certain
treatment or service from a T&CM practitioner, they should consult a
doctor. In case the adverse reaction is critical, the consumer should go to
the nearest hospital or emergency facility.
7.0 Price and Insurance Coverage of T&CM services
7.1 Pricing
T&CM services provided in the government setting are subsidised
by Malaysian Government with minimum fees. However, services
provided by the private sector practitioners are not subsidised by the
government. Consumers have to bear all costs. The prices of private
sector providers are also not regulated or controlled, because to date,
there is no statutory control for the prices of T&CM services. Consumers
are advised to choose wisely by comparing the prices and services
provided.
7.2 Insurance Coverage
Most T&CM services are not covered by health insurance providers in
Malaysia. Therefore, consumers who opt for T&CM are required to pay
on their own. However, some health insurance policies may oﬀer
coverage for treatment using T&CM. Consumers should consult their
insurance agent for available options. Some important questions to ask
are:
Am I covered for this treatment?
Is the coverage provided for outpatient or inpatient treatment?
Do I need a referral from a qualiﬁed doctor?
Is there a limit in the coverage and how many visits or what
treatments are covered?
Is there a list of service providers for this coverage?
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8.0 Feedback and Complaint Channels
Consumers can provide feedback and channel any complaints related to
T&CM products and services to the following agencies as shown in Table
5 below:
Table 5: Agencies and Related Issues
Complaint Issues

Agency

Contact information

T&CM service
related

BPTK, KKM

Product related

Pharmacy Enforcement
Division, MOH

Consumer rights

Ministry of Domestic
Trade and Consumer
Aﬀairs

www.kpdnhep.gov.my
e-aduan.kpdnhep.gov.my
1-800-88-6800

Medical Device
related

Medical Device
Authority, MOH

Privacy Data
Protection

Department of Personal
Data Protection,
Ministry of
Communications and
Multimedia

www.mdb.gov.my
mdb@mdb.gov.my
03-88922400
www.pdp.gov.my
03-8000-8000
aduan@pdp.gov.my

*Please refer to Appendix 3
for T&CM Branch Oﬃces in
Malaysia

tcm.moh.gov.my
tcm@moh.gov.my
03-22798100

www.pharmacy.gov.my
03-78413200
03-78835549
Enquiries relating National Pharmaceutical www.pharmacy.gov.my/
to product
Regulatory Agency,
www.npra.gov.my
registration
MOH
1-800-88-6722

If you are unsure about which category your complaint belongs to, you
can forward your complaint to http://moh.spab.gov.my which will then
forward it to the relevant government agency.
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9.0 Conclusion
It is hoped that this guideline will be used by consumers as a source of
important information for consideration when selecting and using
T&CM services.

18

Appendix 1
List of Ministry of Health (MOH) Facilities Oﬀering T&CM Services

No.

State

MOH Facility

1. Federal Territory
of Kuala Lumpur &
Putrajaya
2. Federal Territory
of Kuala Lumpur &
Putrajaya
3. Federal Territory
of Kuala Lumpur &
Putrajaya
4. Pulau Pinang

Putrajaya Hospital

5. Johor

Sultan Ismail Hospital

6. Johor

Masai Health Clinic

Cheras Rehabilitation
Hospital
National Cancer
Institute
Kepala Batas Hospital

T&CM Services
Available
Traditional Massage
Acupuncture
Traditional Massage
Acupuncture
Basti, Shirodhara
Acupuncture
Herbal Therapy
Traditional Massage
Acupuncture
Herbal Therapy
Traditional Massage
Acupuncture
Herbal Therapy
Traditional Postnatal
Care
19

No.

State

7. Terengganu
8. Pahang
9. Kedah
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MOH Facility
Sultanah Nur Zahirah
Hospital
Sultanah Hajjah Kalsom
Hospital
Sultanah Bahiyah Hospital

T&CM Services
Available
Traditional Massage
Acupuncture
Traditional Massage
Acupuncture
Traditional Massage
Acupuncture
Traditional Massage
Acupuncture

10.

Kelantan

Raja Perempuan Zainab II
Hospital

11.

Kelantan

12.

Negeri Sembilan

13.

Sabah

14.

Sarawak

15.

Melaka

16.

Selangor

Government Health Clinics Traditional Postnatal
in Kelantan
Care
Port Dickson Hospital
Traditional Massage
Acupuncture
Duchess of Kent Hospital
Traditional Massage
Acupuncture
Sabah Women and
Traditional Massage
Childrens' Hospital
Acupuncture
Herbal Therapy
Sarawak General Hospital Traditional Massage
Acupuncture
Jasin Hospital
Traditional Massage
Acupuncture
Sungai Buloh Hospital
Varmam Therapy

Appendix 2
EXAMPLES OF ADVERTISEMENTS WITH FALSE CLAIMS
Example 1:
A premise uses the term ‘Clinic’ and advertises the treatment of diseases
such as diabetes, hypertension, stroke and asthma which contravenes
Section 4A of the Medicines (Advertisement and Sale) Act 1956

Acupuncture Clinic XYZ

We provide acupuncture service
for the treatment of:
Diabetes
Hypertension
Stroke
Asthma
Other types of diseases
Please call this number to make an appointment:
101-0123456789
Mr. M
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Example 2:
An advertisement claims that the courses being oﬀered are recognised by
the Ministry of Health Malaysia. Malaysia’s Coat of Arms and Ministry of
Health logo were used without approval.

123 College of
Traditional Medicine
We offer diploma courses in
traditional medicine which are
certified and recognised by the
Ministry of Health, Malaysia
Contact Miss Y for more info
012-0123456
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Appendix 3
T&CM BRANCH OFFICES IN MALAYSIA
Branch

Address

Contact information

Northern Zone
(Pulau Pinang,
Kedah, Perlis)

Cawangan Perubatan Tradisional
dan Komplementari (CPTK)
Bahagian Perubatan
Jabatan Kesihatan Negeri Pulau
Pinang
Tingkat 3, Bangunan Mara No.33,
Jalan Pengkalan Weld 10300
Pulau Pinang.

04-2555334
04-2555300 (Fax)
tcmutara@moh.gov.my

Southern Zone
(Johor, Melaka)

CPTK Johor
Jabatan Kesihatan Negeri Johor
Tingkat 4, Blok B, Wisma
Persekutuan, Jalan Ayer Molek,
80590 Johor Bahru Johor.

07-2381787
07-2361669
07-2384787(Fax)
tcm.jknj@moh.gov.my

Eastern Zone
(Terengganu,
Kelantan,
Pahang)

CPTK Terengganu
Jabatan Kesihatan Negeri
Terengganu
Tingkat 5, Wisma Persekutuan,
Jalan Sultan Ismail,
20920 Kuala Terengganu,
Terengganu.

09-6205793
09-6205794 (Fax)

Perak

CPTK Perak
Jabatan Kesihatan Negeri Perak
Bangunan No. JKR 3639,
Hospital Bahagia, Ulu Kinta
31250 Tanjung Rambutan, Perak.

05-5331460
05-2542916 (Fax)
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T&CM BRANCH OFFICES IN MALAYSIA
Branch

24

Address

Contact information

Sarawak

CPTK Sarawak
Jabatan Kesihatan Negeri
Sarawak
Jalan Tun Abang Haji Openg,
93590 Kuching Sarawak.

082-233349
082-233341 (Fax)

Sabah

CPTK Sabah
Jabatan Kesihatan Negeri Sabah
Tingkat 4 Wisma Dang Bandang,
Jalan Tunku Abdul Rahman,
88612 Kota Kinabalu Sabah.

088-237603
088-237602
088-237609 (Fax)
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